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	Town/City:  
Georgetown

	Place: (neighborhood or village):



Town Center




	Address: 
9 Middle Street

	Historic Name:
Heman & Martha Howe House

	Uses:
Present: 
single residence

	Original: 
single residence

	Date of Construction:  ca. 1850

	Source:  historic maps, deeds

	Style/Form:   
undetermined

	Architect/Builder:  
Herman Howe, possible builder

	Exterior Material:

	Foundation:  
stone

	Wall/Trim:  
wood clapboards

	Roof:  
asphalt shingles

	Outbuildings/Secondary Structures:  


garage

	Major Alterations (with dates):  


Hyphen added between house and barn north side

Porch added south side


Dormer added north side



	Condition:  
good

	Moved:  no  FORMCHECKBOX 
 
yes  FORMCHECKBOX 
     Date:


	Acreage:    0.12 acre

	Setting:   This house is sited on the northwest side of Middle Street. The area is a mix of residential and institutional uses.


 FORMCHECKBOX 
 Recommended for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.  


If checked, you must attach a completed National Register Criteria Statement form.
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION   

The Heman & Martha Howe House is a story-and-a-half wood frame single dwelling is located on the west side of Middle Street south of West Main Street.  It is situated at the front of a small lot containing two outbuildings (one later connected to the house).  The house has a two-room plan divided by a central entry and a story-and-a-half ell attached to the south side of the rear.  The roof overhangs the front with a shallow eave containing a box gutter while terminating flush with the end and rear walls.  The five bay front façade contains a central entrance and flanking windows evenly spaced; the upper story contains no windows.  The entrance is unembellished and shows no evidence of having had a porch.  A rear ell attached to the southwest corner of the house appears integral to the house, but a one-story hyphen on at the northwest corner connecting the house with a small barn is a later addition.  A dormer and a porch on the south end of the building also are features added later.   
The house is sited close to the street, set back behind a small yard.  The topography drops behind the house exposing most of the basement at grade.  A small year yards exists in the south west corner of the lot.  The southeast corner of lot contains a one-story wood frame garage with a front gable roof and two vehicle bays that are in the process of being walled in for another use.  

The Heman & Martha Howe House, built ca. 1850 is a representative example of a modest tradesman’s dwelling in Georgetown.  Its story-and-a-half scale and massing and absent ornamentation are characteristic features.  It may have been built by Herman Howe, who was a carpenter.  With limited alterations, the house is a distinctive contributing component of the village historic district.
HISTORICAL NARRATIVE    
Originally called Bacon Street, Middle Street in Georgetown is shown as an unlabeled street with ten buildings on it on the 1856 map of Georgetown center. In August 1845 shoe manufacturer and merchant Joseph Little sold Georgetown merchant William Boynton several parcels of land “where the said Boynton lives” ranging from Central to Middle streets as well as “the garden lot on the north side of Bacon Street,” this latter being 0.15 acre.
  Boynton, born in 1810, lived at what is now 15-17 Central Street from at least 1850 until the 1880s. His family was among those Yorkshire people who had come to the New World with the Rev. Ezekiel Rogers in 1638 and settled the town of Rowley, from which Georgetown was separated in 1836. He was part of the seventh generation of descendants of the immigrant William Boynton and was born in Rowley in February 1810 to the innkeeper and militia major Ebenezer Boynton (1773-1838) and his wife Jane Todd. In 1846 he married Martha P. Dodge of Rowley, who died four years later at the age of forty. In 1854 Boynton married again, this time to Ann P. Boynton, the daughter of his first cousin William Boynton (born1801), who was a Rockport merchant and shipowner and also lived for a time in Georgetown, nearby on Central Street, where he died in 1873.
. According to Henry M. Nelson’s 1888 history of the town, “Nearly, or quite, forty-five years ago William Boynton, now of Melrose, conducted quite a trade in, and some manufacture of, furniture on Central Street. He was also undertaker for the town. The Farmers' Mutual Company, of Georgetown, organized about forty years ago, had its office under his roof, an institution of which he was treasurer.”

Boynton appears to have built the house at 9 Middle Street for rental income by 1856 when it appears on a village map with the name of “H. Howe” attached.  Heman (sometimes Herman) Howe (1801-1885) was born in Guildhall, Vermont where he married Martha Woods of Waterford and they raised their family.  An 1845 city directory locates Herman and Martha Howe in Lowell where Herman was working as a carpenter.  A search in the 1850 census provided no information regarding their whereabouts or the moment they arrived in Georgetown, but the 1856 map of the village locates them on Middle Street, and they are recorded with their neighbors in the 1860 census. It is at least possible that he built the house. However, their time in Georgetown was limited, and by 1870 the Howes had moved to Haverhill. The 1872 map shows the house occupied by “S. Crumby,” probably Dolly Dorman Crombie, whom the 1870 census enumerates just before Morrison Proctor, who lived for decades at 7 Middle Street. Born about 1794 as Dolly Dorman, she married in Aaron Crombie Jr. of Boxford in 1819. Born in Ipswich about 1789, Crombie was a shoe manufacturer and in 1850 he and his wife lived in the home of Maine-born shoemaker Roswell Hale in Georgetown. In 1869 Aaron Crombie died, and his widow apparently moved to the 7 Middle Street rental property. No death record has yet been located for her.
In November 1873 Boynton deeded 9 and 13 Middle Street and their lots to Lucius S. Rollins.
 Born in Sanbornton, New Hampshire, about 1835, Lucius Rollins was a shoemaker who had married Mary Ann Tilton of Wilmot Flats, New Hampshire, and had moved to Georgetown by 1867, when the couple’s daughter Mabel Coffin Rollins was born on Clark Street. The 1870 directory shows him as living on “Bacon Street,” when he was probably renting one of these houses; the census of the same year shows him with only $200 in personal property in a household with his wife and children Henrietta, Elroy, and Mabel, as well as his wife’s sister Almira Tilton and a boarding shoemaker named Charles Tyler, also a New Hampshire native. By 1880 Rollins ran a shoe-pegging machine, his eldest daughter had left the household, his son Elroy was a railroad baggagemaster, and Mabel was thirteen years old.

Between 1885 and 1887 Rollins and his family moved to Haverhill, and there he died in August 1892. In April 1893 his widow sold 9 and 13 Middle Street to Camile C. (often shown as Charles C.) Baril. Born in Dubuque, Iowa, about 1857, Baril was second-generation French Canadian and was working as a blacksmith and living in Lowell by 1881. By 1889 he and his wife Helen Dunster, born in London, were living in Haverhill, and by 1904 they were living in Georgetown when their daughter Doris was born. The 1907 directory shows Baril living on Middle Street, but the 1909 directory shows him living on Rock Pond and using the Middle Street property for his blacksmith shop.  The 1906 Sanborn fire insurance map shows 9 Middle Street as a dwelling but what appears to be a blacksmith and wagon shop numbered 7 Middle sitting on the lot also occupied by 5 Middle Street; it is probably the now-attached outbuilding at the northwest side of the lot.  By 1910 Baril had moved to Bailey Lane, and by 1912 he had become a poultry farmer.
In 1912 Baril sold the property to John O. Humphrey of Newton, New Hampshire, who in 1916 sold it to Georgetown electrician Louis Raymond Merrill.
 Born in Georgetown in 1889, Merrill was the son of Lyman P. and Adella E. Truair Merrill. Also a Georgetown native, Lyman was the son of shoemaker Moses Merrill Jr. and was a shoe factory stockfitter and cutter. His mother was born in either Clermont or Waterloo, Iowa; how she came to Georgetown is not known. She worked as a dressmaker, and the family—Lyman, Adella, and their children Alfreda, Louis Raymond, and Leslie Pickett—lived on Main Street in 1901. Lyman Merrill died of tetanus in 1905 at the age of forty-four, and by 1910 his widow and children lived on North Street. By 1914 both Louis and Leslie had become electricians, and by 1917 they were living with their mother at 13 Middle Street. Louis Merrill was both an electrical contractor and the manager of Georgetown’s electric light company. Local historian Jane Field stated in 1988 that the town’s municipal light department “began operations in Louis Merrill’s Middle Street home in 1906,” but there is no evidence that Merrill was living at either 13, 11, or 9 Middle—houses various members of the family occupied over the next several decades—in that year.

By 1918 Louis Merrill rented 9 Middle Street to the widow Jessie J. McIntosh, who lived there with her children Robert William, a laborer, and Jennie B., a bookkeeper. The three had emigrated from Nova Scotia in 1895, and by 1905 Jessie McIntosh was matron of the town’s Home for the Aged on North Street, where she and her daughter also lived. By 1916 the three lived together at 24 School Street. The 1920 census shows them at 9 Middle Street; Robert William was a coal company teamster, Jennie was a furniture store bookkeeper, and a seventeen-year-old grandson, Charles,  lived in the Middle Street house with them and worked at a shoe factory.
By 1925 Jessie McIntosh had moved to 11 Central Street, and 9 Middle was occupied by Adella Merrill, Louis’s mother. She is shown as renting the house for twelve dollars a month and working as a laundress. In 1932 Louis and his family lived at 9 Middle Street. Louis Merrill died in May 1948, and the 1957 directory shows his widow, Nova Scotia native Ella McDonald, whom he married in 1921, at 9 Middle Street.

In 1962 Ella Merrill deeded 9 Middle Street to herself, her married daughter Doris (born in 1928), and her daughter’s husband Elbridge W. Hogg, and in 1877 she deeded it to the Hoggs alone. Elbridge Hogg died in March 1992, and in January 2007 Doris J. Merrill Hogg sold the property to current owners Richard P. and Kerry A. Rausch.
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9 Middle Street: view from SE (top) and W (bottom)
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National Register of Historic Places Criteria Statement Form

Check all that apply:

 FORMCHECKBOX 
  Individually eligible             FORMCHECKBOX 
   Eligible only in a historic district
 FORMCHECKBOX 
  Contributing to a potential historic district          FORMCHECKBOX 
  Potential historic district
Criteria:       FORMCHECKBOX 
   A        FORMCHECKBOX 
    B        FORMCHECKBOX 
    C     FORMCHECKBOX 
    D

Criteria Considerations:       FORMCHECKBOX 
   A      FORMCHECKBOX 
    B      FORMCHECKBOX 
   C     FORMCHECKBOX 
   D      FORMCHECKBOX 
    E      FORMCHECKBOX 
    F       FORMCHECKBOX 
    G

                   Statement of Significance by________Neil Larson_________________________________

                            The criteria that are checked in the above sections must be justified here.
The Heman & Martha Howe House, built ca. 1850 is a representative example of a modest tradesman’s dwelling in Georgetown.  Its story-and-a-half scale and massing and absent ornamentation are characteristic features.  It may have been built by Herman Howe, who was a carpenter.  With limited alterations, the house is a distinctive contributing component of the village historic district.
� Joseph Little, trader, to William Boynton, Esq., 13 August 1845, SED 362:118. Judging by deeds, the size of the “garden plot” was probably mistaken in this deed; deeds for 9, 11, and 13 Middle Street, all originally part of this transfer, shown as them .35 acres together.


� See John Farnham Boynton and Caroline Harriman Boynton, comps., The Boynton Family: A Genealogy of the Descendants of William and John Boynton, Who Emigrated from Yorkshire, England, in 1638, and Settled at Rowley, Essex County, Massachusetts (privately printed, 1897).


� Henry M. Nelson, “Town of Georgetown History,”  in History of Essex County, Massachusetts, with Biographical Sketches of Many of Its Pioneers and Prominent Men, ed. D. Hamilton Hurd (Philadelphia: J. W. Lewis and Co., 1888), 1:848.


� William Boynton to Lucius S. Rollins, 25 November 1873, SED 893:141.


� J. O. Humphrey, Haverhill, to Louis R. Merrill, 22 September 1916, SED 2344:154.


� Jane Field, A Brief History of Georgetown Massachusetts 1838-1963 (Georgetown: Georgetown Historical Commission, 1988), 39.


� Ella M. Merrill, widow of Louis R. Merrill, and Doris J. Hogg, to Ella M. Merrill, Doris J. Hogg, and Elbridge W. Hogg, 16 June 1962, SED 4933:375; Ella M. Merrill, Doris J. Hogg, and Elbridge W. Hogg to Doris J. and Elbridge W. Hogg, 5 October 1977, SED 6404:541; Doris J. Hogg to Richard P. and Kerry A. Rausch, 9 Middle Street, 31 January 2007, SED 26525:375.
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